
 
 
 
 

Special Policy & Resources Committee 
 
 

 
 

 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
   
 
 
 
 
 
 

Date: 13 October 2021 

Time: 12.00pm 

Venue Hove Town Hall - Council Chamber 

Members: Councillors: Mac Cafferty (Chair), Druitt (Joint Deputy Chair), 
Gibson (Joint Deputy Chair), Allcock (Joint Opposition 
Spokesperson), Appich (Joint Opposition Spokesperson), Bell 
(Group Spokesperson), Clare, Evans, Miller and Yates 
Invitee: Dr Anusree Biswas Sasidharan 

Contact: Mark Wall 
Head of Democratic Services 
01273 291006 
mark.wall@brighton-hove.gov.uk 

Agendas and minutes are published on the council’s website www.brighton-hove.gov.uk.  
Agendas are available to view five working days prior to the meeting date. 
 
Electronic agendas can also be accessed through our meetings app available through 
ModernGov: iOS/Windows/Android 
 

This agenda and all accompanying reports are printed on recycled paper 
 

http://www.brighton-hove.gov.uk/
https://play.google.com/store/apps/details?id=uk.co.moderngov.modgov&hl=en_GB
https://www.microsoft.com/en-gb/p/modgov/9nblggh0c7s7#activetab=pivot:overviewtab
https://play.google.com/store/apps/details?id=uk.co.moderngov.modgov&hl=en_GB


AGENDA 
 

PART ONE Page 

 

 PROCEDURAL MATTERS 

 

42 PROCEDURAL BUSINESS  

 (a) Declaration of Substitutes: Where Councillors are unable to attend 
a meeting, a substitute Member from the same Political Group may 
attend, speak and vote in their place for that meeting. 

 
(b) Declarations of Interest:  
 

(a) Disclosable pecuniary interests; 
(b) Any other interests required to be registered under the local 

code; 
(c) Any other general interest as a result of which a decision on the 

matter might reasonably be regarded as affecting you or a 
partner more than a majority of other people or businesses in 
the ward/s affected by the decision. 

 
In each case, you need to declare  
(i) the item on the agenda the interest relates to; 
(ii) the nature of the interest; and 
(iii) whether it is a disclosable pecuniary interest or some other 

interest. 
 

If unsure, Members should seek advice from the committee lawyer 
or administrator preferably before the meeting. 

 
(c) Exclusion of Press and Public: To consider whether, in view of the 

nature of the business to be transacted, or the nature of the 
proceedings, the press and public should be excluded from the 
meeting when any of the following items are under consideration. 
 
NOTE: Any item appearing in Part Two of the Agenda states in its 

heading the category under which the information disclosed 
in the report is exempt from disclosure and therefore not 
available to the public. 

 
A list and description of the exempt categories is available for public 

inspection at Brighton and Hove Town Halls. 

 

 

43 CHAIR'S COMMUNICATIONS  

 

44 CALL OVER  

 (a) Items 46 & 48 will be read out at the meeting and Members invited 
to reserve the items for consideration. 

 
(b) Those items not reserved will be taken as having been received 

 



and the reports’ recommendations agreed. 
 

 GENERAL MATTERS 

 

45 PUBLIC INVOLVEMENT  

 To consider the following matters raised by members of the public that 
relate to the item listed on the agenda: 
 
(a) Written Questions: to receive any questions submitted by the due 

date of 10am on the 13 October 2021; 
 
(b) Deputations: to receive any deputations submitted by the due date 

of 10am on the 13 October 2021. 

 

 

 A CITY WORKING FOR ALL 

 

46 CITY CLEAN DISPUTE RESOLUTION 7 - 16 

 Report of the Chief Executive.  

 Contact Officer: Nick Hibberd Tel: 01273 293756  
 Ward Affected: All Wards   
 

 PROCEDURAL MATTERS 

 

47 ITEMS REFERRED FOR COUNCIL  

 To consider items to be submitted to the 21st October 2021 Council 
meeting for information. 
 
In accordance with Procedure Rule 24.3a, the Committee may determine 
that any item is to be included in its report to Council.  In addition, each 
Group may specify one further item to be included by notifying the Chief 
Executive no later than 10.00am on [Insert Date] 2013 (the eighth working 
day before the Council meeting to which the report is to be made), or if 
the Committee meeting takes place after this deadline, immediately at the 
conclusion of the Committee meeting. 

 

 

 PART TWO 

 

 A CITY WORKING FOR ALL 

 

48 CITY CLEAN DISPUTE RESOLUTION  EXEMPT CATEGORIES 3, 4 & 5 17 - 36 

 Report of the Chief Executve, (circulated to Members only).  

 Contact Officer: Nick Hibberd Tel: 01273 293756  
 Ward Affected: All Wards   
 



 PROCEDURAL MATTERS 

 

49 PART TWO PROCEEDINGS  

 To consider whether the items listed in Part Two of the agenda and 
decisions thereon should remain exempt from disclosure to the press and 
public. 

 

 
 
 

 
Date of Publication - Tuesday, 12 October 2021 

 

 



 
 
 
 

The City Council actively welcomes members of the public and the press to attend its 
meetings and holds as many of its meetings as possible in public.  Provision is also made on 
the agendas for public questions to committees and details of how questions can be raised 
can be found on the website and/or on agendas for the meetings. 
 
The closing date for receipt of public questions and deputations for the next meeting is 12 
noon on the fourth working day before the meeting. 
 
Meeting papers can be provided, on request, in large print, in Braille, on audio tape or on 
disc, or translated into any other language as requested. 
Infra-red hearing aids are available for use during the meeting. If you require any further 
information or assistance, please contact the receptionist on arrival. 
 
FURTHER INFORMATION 
For further details and general enquiries about this meeting contact Mark Wall, (01273 
291006, email mark.wall@brighton-hove.gov.uk) or email democratic.services@brighton-
hove.gov.uk  
 
WEBCASTING NOTICE 
This meeting may be filmed for live or subsequent broadcast via the Council’s website.  At the 
start of the meeting the Chair will confirm if all or part of the meeting is being filmed.  You 
should be aware that the Council is a Data Controller under the Data Protection Act 1998.  
Data collected during this web cast will be retained in accordance with the Council’s 
published policy. 
 
Therefore, by entering the meeting room and using the seats in the chamber you are deemed 
to be consenting to being filmed and to the possible use of those images and sound 
recordings for the purpose of web casting and/or Member training.  If members of the public 
do not wish to have their image captured, they should sit in the public gallery area. 
 
ACCESS NOTICE 
The Public Gallery is situated on the first floor of the Town Hall and is limited in size but does 
have 2 spaces designated for wheelchair users.  The lift cannot be used in an emergency.  
Evac Chairs are available for self-transfer and you are requested to inform Reception prior to 
going up to the Public Gallery.  For your own safety please do not go beyond the Ground 
Floor if you are unable to use the stairs. 
Please inform staff on Reception of this affects you so that you can be directed to the Council 
Chamber where you can watch the meeting or if you need to take part in the proceedings e.g. 
because you have submitted a public question. 
 
FIRE / EMERGENCY EVACUATION PROCEDURE 
If the fire alarm sounds continuously, or if you are instructed to do so, you must leave the 
building by the nearest available exit.  You will be directed to the nearest exit by council staff.  
It is vital that you follow their instructions: 

 You should proceed calmly; do not run and do not use the lifts; 

 Do not stop to collect personal belongings; 

 Once you are outside, please do not wait immediately next to the building, but move 
some distance away and await further instructions; and 

 Do not re-enter the building until told that it is safe to do so. 

mailto:democratic.services@brighton-hove.gov.uk
mailto:democratic.services@brighton-hove.gov.uk


 

     

     



SPECIAL POLICY & RESOURCES 
COMMITTEE 

Agenda Item 46 
 
Brighton & Hove City Council 

 

Subject: City Clean Dispute Resolution 

Date of Meeting: 13 October 2021 

Report of: Chief Executive 

Contact Officer: Name: Geoff Raw Tel: 291132 

 Email: geoff.raw@brighton-hove.gov.uk 

Ward(s) affected: All  

 
FOR GENERAL RELEASE   
 
Note: Urgency 
 

By reason of the special circumstances below, and in accordance with section 
100B(4)(b) of the 1972 Act, the Chair of the meeting has been consulted and is of 
the opinion that this item should be considered at the meeting as a matter of 
urgency.  

 
Note:  Reasons for urgency 
 
 The special circumstances for non-compliance with Council Procedure Rule 3, 

Access to Information Procedure Rule 5 and Section 100B(4) of the Local 
Government Act 1972 (as amended), (items not considered unless the agenda is 
open to inspection at least five days in advance of the meeting) are that the 
report relates to an ongoing trade dispute which has been the subject of ongoing 
negotiations and the up to date position and information set out in the report was 
not available at an earlier stage. 

 
1 PURPOSE OF REPORT AND POLICY CONTEXT 
 
1.1 This report sets out options for resolution of the current City Clean dispute. 
 
2 RECOMMENDATIONS:  
 

That the committee: 
 

2.1 Having considered the options set out in section 4 and the financial and legal 
advice in sections 8 and 9 of the part 2 report, provides the Chief Executive as 
Head of Paid Service and his management team a clear negotiating steer with 
the GMB taking into account the legal and financial advice. 

 
2.2 Note that any resulting financial commitments would need to be factored into the 

sequence of reports leading up to and including Budget Council and will be 
considered by the cross-party Budget Review Group as part of the process. 

 
2.3 Agree that affected staff and unions are advised of the council’s decision. 
 
2.4 Consider additional support to the negotiating teams as outlined in section 4 of 

the report. 

7



 
 

 
3 CONTEXT/ BACKGROUND INFORMATION 
 
3.1 City Clean is a key council service for residents and business customers and has 

a high percentage of male staff with a high proportion of unionised workers, 
predominantly represented by the GMB union. 

 
3.2 The current dispute follows representations from GMB officials with respect to the 

movement between rounds of HGV drivers on resident and business refuse and 
recycling services.   

 
The ballot paper is provided below but a summary is here: 
 
“… failures to follow Council policy’s (sic) and procedures regarding 
HGV holding drivers, and resulting unilateral decision making around 
variations of duties, crew changes, planning for collecting of dropped 
work, and the accumulating resultant effect and toll on Driver's health 
and wellbeing and associated issues within the refuse, recycling, com-
bins and trades waste.” 

 
3.3 The local management team, supported by the Executive Director for 

Environment, Economy and Culture, have sought to address trade union 
concerns to avert escalation to industrial action, through meetings over several 
weeks during which the issues were discussed, and suggested solutions offered.  
Whilst is our view that discussions to find a local management resolution were 
able to make progress, the GMB balloted their members for industrial action and 
following a ballot (see Appendix 1) have undertaken strike action and have 
announced further strike dates to 21st November 2021. This industrial action has 
affected all areas of the city and is most evident where residents and businesses 
are unable or have chosen not to retain their waste on their property and 
premises. 

 
3.4 To reduce the risk of the dispute further escalating whilst constructive 

negotiations are in play, the council has sought to minimise flash points. The 
council has communicated directly with GMB representatives as the main point of 
contact and has not publicly issued its detailed offers to affected staff.  

 
3.5 While the dispute and ballot centred around operational matters that managers 

engaged with the GMB to seek to address, there is now discussion focused on 
further issues such as pay. As is the convention of the council, employer’s policy 
steers latterly have been sought by the officer negotiating team from the political 
administration.  These have been discussed within the context of the council’s 
own industrial relations policies, protocols, and procedures More recently it has 
been necessary to seek legal and financial advice which has prompted this 
report. The council’s legal and financial considerations are set out in the part 2 
report.   

 
Main Elements of the Dispute 

3.6 There are two distinct elements concerning resolution of the dispute.  The first 
 concerns the ballot for industrial action which is primarily about the movement of 
drivers and allocation of rounds.   

8



 
 

Movement of Drivers and allocation of rounds  

3.7  Over the period of pandemic, there has been a greater need to change driver 
 rosters on a more frequent basis due to drivers and loaders needing to self-
 isolate.  Where absences cannot be covered by permanent staff, officers feel it is 
sometimes necessary to call on agency staff to ensure services to residents and 
business can be maintained.  Securing agency staff has been particularly 
challenging during the pandemic and because of labour shortages notably HGV 
drivers.  On occasion a driver may be moved from their normal round due to 
performance  issues.  
  

3.8 A formal offer on the movement of drivers was submitted on 6th and 9th October. 
This is attached at appendix 2.  A revised formal offer was also submitted 11 
October and is set out in Appendix 3.  A summary of the issues and how 
management have responded to them through the formal offer documents is 
below:  

 
3.9 Moving drivers due to performance concerns.  Management have agreed to 

invoke formal procedure (disciplinary or capability) whenever it felt necessary to 
move drivers for performance, conduct or capability reasons.  Prior to any formal 
action, an informal meeting/discussion and/or standard setting would take place. 
Drivers that have been moved will return to their rounds.  This will be done in 
discussion with the individual driver so that any needs relating to that individual 
are addressed. 

 
3.10 Ensuring the drivers and their crew go out on the round they are allocated 

to.  Management have agreed in the offer document that where all members of 
the crew, the driver and the vehicle are available to work, they will work the round 
that they are normally allocated to and not be moved to work on a different round.  
In circumstances where this does not happen, management will review the 
reasons why there was deviation from this.  

 
3.11 Covering rounds when Reps are on trade union duties.  Through the offer 

document, management have agreed that where a driver is released on trade 
union duties, management will prioritise cover for their round using pool or 
agency drivers.  In circumstances where the round is not covered due to pool or 
agency drivers not being available, management will look to providing an 
additional loader for that round to support with catch up where there is capacity to 
do so. Management will also work with GMB reps to explore ways of improving 
the resilience of the communal bin rounds.   

 
3.12 Prioritising permanent staff over agency staff .  Through the offer documents, 

management have acknowledged that Drivers are contracted to work from 
5am and 7am depending on which part of the service they work.  Some Drivers 
start work at 6am and on occasion agency workers who also start at 6am have 
been allocated to these rounds ahead of permanent Operatives who start at 7am.   
Management have proposed that this issue is addressed in such a way that 
works for all permanent staff and which creates consistency with start and finish 
times. Management have proposed to undertake a review of this with GMB so 
that we can agree a solution that works for all staff.  

 

9



 
 

3.13 Rounds being changed without consultation / following the agreed process  
Management agree that round changes should only happen following a meeting 
with the crew and union.   They have proposed in the offer documents that this 
meeting will be carried out by operations managers (i.e. Team Leaders, 
Operations Managers, or Head of Operations) and that where round changes are 
being considered, management should engage with staff at an early stage of the 
process.  

 
Pay and Grading  

3.14  During the negotiations and after industrial action commenced, the GMB raised 
 additional issues not covered in the ballot and this second element concerns pay 
 and grading.  
 

3.15 Consideration of the pay and grading issues appear in the part 2 report on this 
agenda.   

 
4. ANALYSIS & CONSIDERATION OF ANY ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS 

 
Pursual of additional actions to resolve dispute  
 

4.1 Other options for consideration relate to the management of the dispute going 
forward. If the dispute is not resolved quickly the council will consider engaging 
third party support to support all sides of the dispute in reaching a resolution. 
Options to be considered are as follows:  
 

 ACAS offer both conciliation and arbitration services that the employer 
could seek to utilise, with agreement from GMB. Collective conciliation 
involves a neutral person providing support to both parties to reach 
agreement. Arbitration involves a third party working with each side and 
making a decision to resolve the dispute. Arbitration is usually used when 
conciliation has not been successful.  

 Both parties could request support through the national joint secretaries to 
access the dispute resolution mechanism as part of the National Joint 
Council. It is not clear if the regional structures are in place either on the 
employer or union side, but further exploration of this route could take 
place in agreement with GMB. 

 Third party Industrial Relations expert could be engaged to support the 
council and union to reach agreement. Various options could be 
considered, such as the support that was accessed in the 2019 dispute.  
 

5. COMMUNITY ENGAGEMENT & CONSULTATION 
 
5.1 Specific community consultation is not considered necessary for this report. 
 
5.2 Consultation with other Trade Unions would be required if the council wishes to 

 accord with its current policies and procedures. 
 
 
 
 

10



 
 

6.  CONCLUSION  
 
6.1 This is a very challenging set of issues to resolve with significant financial, legal, 

implications.  
 
6.2 Following a decision of the committee, council officers we continue to seek a 

resolution of the dispute following the steer of the committee.  
 
7. FINANCIAL & OTHER IMPLICATIONS: 
 

Financial Implications: 
 
7.1 The financial implications appear in the part 2 report on this agenda,   
   
 Lead Finance Officer:  Nigel Manvell  Date: 11 October 2021 
 
 Legal Implications: 
 
7.2 The legal implications appear in the part 2 report on this agenda 
 

Lawyer:  Elizabeth Culbert Date 11 October 2021 
  
  Equalities Implications: 
 
7.3 The council has adopted a People Strategy which includes several guiding     

fairness and transparency principles.  
 

Sustainability Implications: 
 
7.4 No specific sustainability implications arise from this report. 
 
 

 
 

SUPPORTING DOCUMENTATION 

 

Appendices: 

Appendix 1: GMB Ballot Paper 
Appendix 2: Employer’s revised formal offer (movement of drivers) 06 October 2021 
Appendix 3: Employer’s revised formal offer (movement of drivers) 11 October 2021 
 

 

Documents in Members’ Rooms 

None 

 

11



 
 

APPENDIX 1 

 

  

12



 
 

Appendix 2 
 
City Clean dispute.   
Formal Offer (movement of drivers)  
 
Version date: 06.10.21 
 

The following draft offer outlines a formal proposal from the employer for resolving the dispute 
on the basis that the current industrial action scheduled from 8th October onwards is 
suspended.   
The headings below relate to the areas of concern that have been highlighted by GMB as the 
grounds for the dispute.  This document has been updated following the meeting with the GMB 
on 6th October 2021.  
 
1.  Moving drivers due to performance concerns 

 
Management agree to invoke formal procedure (disciplinary or capability) whenever it felt 
necessary to move drivers for performance, conduct or capability reasons.  Prior to any 
formal action, an informal meeting/discussion and/or standard setting would take place.  

 
Drivers that have been moved will return to their rounds.  This will be done in discussion 
with the individual driver so that any needs relating to that individual are addressed 

 
Management have met with GMB to go through the drivers that have been moved so that 
agreement can reached around who is impacted 

 
2. Ensuring the drivers and their crew go out on the round they are allocated to 

 
Where all members of the crew, the driver and the vehicle are available to work, they will 
work the round that they are normally allocated to and not be moved to work on a different 
round.   
 
In circumstances where this does not happen, management will review the reasons why 
there was deviation from this.   

 
3. Covering rounds when Reps are on trade union duties 

 
Where a driver is released on trade union duties, management will prioritise cover for their 
round using pool or agency drivers.  
 
In circumstances where the round is not covered due to pool or agency drivers not being 
available, management will look to providing an additional loader for that round to support 
with catch up where there is capacity to do so.  
 
Management to work with GMB reps to explore ways of improving the resilience of the 
communal bin rounds.   
 
 

13



 
 

4. Prioritising permanent staff over agency staff  

Management acknowledge that Drivers are contracted to work from 5am and 7am 
depending on which part of the service they work.  Some Drivers start work at 6am and on 
occasion agency workers who also start at 6am have been allocated to these rounds ahead 
of permanent Operatives who start at 7am.     
 
Management would like to address this in such a way that works for our permanent staff 
and which creates consistency with start and finish times. Management propose to 
undertake a review of this with GMB so that we can agree a solution that works for all staff.  
 
 

5. Rounds being changed without consultation / following the agreed process   

Round changes should only happen following a meeting with the crew and union.   The 
meeting will be carried out by operations managers (ie Team Leaders, Operations 
Managers, or Head of Operations).  These managers will be reminded that this must be 
done prior to any final decision on round changes. 
 
Where round changes are being considered, management should engage with staff at an 
early stage of the process.  
 

 
6. Covering a round when drivers are unwell or on annual leave 

When a driver is unwell or on annual leave, management will seek to cover that round using 
agency or pool drivers.  
Management will work with the trade union to develop a process for determining how 
collection of missed work/leave cover is prioritised.  This could include providing an 
additional loader where there is capacity to do so.   
 

 
  

14



 
 

Appendix 3 
 
City Clean Dispute: Revised Formal Offer (Movement of Drivers) 
 
Version date: 11.10.21 
 

The following draft offer outlines a formal proposal from the employer for resolving the dispute 
on the basis that the current industrial action scheduled from 12th October onwards is 
suspended.   
The headings below relate to the areas of concern that have been highlighted by GMB as the 
grounds for the dispute.  This document has been updated following the meeting with the GMB 
and the administration on 8th October 2021.  
 
1. Moving drivers due to performance concerns 

 
Management agree to invoke formal procedure (disciplinary or capability) whenever it felt 
necessary to move drivers for performance, conduct or capability reasons.  Prior to any 
formal action, an informal meeting/discussion and/or standard setting would take place.  

 
Drivers that have been moved will return to their rounds.  This will be done in discussion 
with the individual driver so that any needs relating to that individual are addressed 

 
Management have met with GMB to go through the drivers that have been moved so that 
agreement can reached around who is impacted.  Any standard setting or other letters sent 
by management relating to the decision to move a driver from their round for performance 
reasons will be removed from that individuals file.   

 

2 Ensuring the drivers and their crew go out on the round they are allocated to 

 
Where all members of the crew, the driver and the vehicle are available to work, they will 
work the round that they are normally allocated to and not be moved to work on a different 
round.   
 
In circumstances where this does not happen, management will review the reasons why 
there was deviation from this.   

 
3. Covering rounds when Reps are on trade union duties 

 
Where a driver is released on trade union duties, management will prioritise cover for their 
round using pool or agency drivers.  
 
In circumstances where the round is not covered due to pool or agency drivers not being 
available, management will look to providing an additional loader for that round to support 
with catch up where there is capacity to do so.  
 
Management to work with GMB reps to explore ways of improving the resilience of the 
communal bin rounds.   

15



 
 

4. Prioritising permanent staff over agency staff  

Management acknowledge that Drivers are contracted to work from 5am and 7am 
depending on which part of the service they work.  Some Drivers start work at 6am and on 
occasion agency workers who also start at 6am have been allocated to these rounds ahead 
of permanent Operatives who start at 7am.     
 
Management would like to address this in such a way that works for our permanent staff 
and which creates consistency with start and finish times. Management propose to 
undertake a review of this with GMB so that we can agree a solution that works for all staff.  
 
 

5. Rounds being changed without consultation / following the agreed process   

Round changes should only happen following a meeting with the crew and union.   The 
meeting will be carried out by operations managers (i.e. Team Leaders, Operations 
Managers, or Head of Operations).  These managers will be reminded that this must be 
done prior to any final decision on round changes. 
 
Where round changes are being considered, management should engage with staff at an 
early stage of the process.  

 
6. Covering a round when drivers are unwell or on annual leave 

When a driver is unwell or on annual leave, management will seek to cover that round using 
agency or pool drivers.  
Management will work with the trade union to develop a process for determining how 
collection of missed work/leave cover is prioritised.  This could include providing an 
additional loader where there is capacity to do so.   
 

7. Monitoring and oversight of delivery of these commitments 

Officers will provide regular updates regarding the delivery to the commitments made in 
this offer to the Environment, Transport & Sustainability Committee as part of the City 
Environment Modernisation Programme update reports that are presented to committee.  
Management will provide GMB with a copy of the update prior to committee to allow for 
comment.   
 
End. 

 

 

16



Document is Restricted

17




	Agenda
	46 City Clean Dispute Resolution
	48 City Clean Dispute Resolution  Exempt Categories 3, 4 & 5

